IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

Supreme Court No. 21-1594

STATE OF IOWA,

Plaintiff-Appellee,

v.

DAGGER LE ERDMAN,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY

Honorable Myron Gookin
(District Court No. FECR006648)

DIRECT APPEAL ON BEHALF OF
APPELLANT DAGGER LE ERDMAN

Denise M. Gonyea (AT009409)
McKelvie Law Office
810 Fifth Avenue, Ste 2
Grinnell, IA 50112
Office: (641) 236-6631
Cell: (641)-831-2111
Fax: (641) 854-2501
Email: dmgonyea@mckelvielaw.com
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT
DAGGER LE ERDMAN

AMENDED FINAL BRIEF

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION TO WAIVE JURISDICTION FROM JUVENILE COURT TO DISTRICT COURT.

State v. Duncan, 841 N.W.2d 604 (Iowa App. 2013)

State v. Neitzel, 801 N.W.2d 612 (Iowa App. 2011)

- II. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING ERDMAN'S MOTION FOR VERDICT OF ACQUITTAL BASED ON INSUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CRIME CHARGED.

State v. Brubaker, 805 N.W.2d 164 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Mills, 458 N.W.2d 395 (Iowa App.1990)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On September 13, 2019, a Delinquency Petition was filed against Dagger Le Erdman in the Washington County Juvenile Court. Said petition accused Erdman, age 17 years at that time, of the crime of Sex Abuse in the Second Degree in violation of Iowa Code Sections 709.1, 709.3(2), 709.3(1)(b), 903B.1. (Delinquency Petition; Vol II Appx. 5). The State contemporaneously filed a Motion to Waive Jurisdiction for Prosecution as if an Adult along with the Delinquency Petition. (Motion to Waive Jurisdiction; Vol II Appx. 7). Erdman objected to the waiver to district court. The juvenile court heard arguments on the motion for waiver on October 22, 2019. (Juvenile Court Tr. p. 1). The court subsequently determined that Erdman should be waived to district court and entered an order granting the State's motion. (Waiver Order; Vol I Appx. 4).

In district court, the State filed a trial information on November 20, 2019 charging Erdman with Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree, a class B felony. (Trial Information; Vol I Appx. 7). Erdman entered a plea of not guilty and the matter proceeded to a jury trial on July 13, 2021. (Trial Tr. Vol. 1, p. 1, ln. 11).

At the close of the State's case, the Defendant submitted a motion for directed verdict of acquittal. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 69, ln. 19-24). Erdman argued that the State had not produced sufficient evidence to submit the criminal charge to the jury. (Trial

Tr. Vol. 2, p. 69, ln 21-24). The court denied the Defendant's motion for acquittal stating that "the Court finds that there is substantial evidence in the record to support a finding of the elements of the crime charged." (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 70, ln. 14-17). Erdman then testified in his own defense. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 73). At the close of the Defendant's evidence, Erdman renewed his motion for directed verdict of acquittal on the record. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 94, ln. 5-6). Again, the district court denied the Defendant's motion for acquittal. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 94, ln. 15-16). The jury thereafter deliberated and returned a guilty verdict on the charge of Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree. (Criminal Verdict; Vol I Appx. 36).

The matter proceeded to sentencing on October 8, 2021. (Sent. Tr. p. 1). The State recommended a sentence of 25 years of incarceration with a 70% mandatory minimum. (Sent. Tr. p. 6, ln. 19-24). Erdman requested a deferred judgment, or a suspended sentence based on his young age, lack of criminal record, successful pretrial supervision, and family support. (Sent. Tr. p. 9, ln. 9-14). The Court considered the statutory sentencing factors and ultimately sentenced Erdman to a term of incarceration not to exceed 25 years and stating that he shall not be eligible for parole until 70% of the sentence is served. (Sent. Tr. p. 14, ln. 11-16). Pursuant to the Court's authority under Iowa Code Section 901.5(14), the court suspended Erdman's sentence pending his compliance with probation for a period of five years. (Sent. Tr. p. 14, ln. 22-25; Judgment and Sentence p. 1; Vol I Appx. 37). Erdman is

also subject to a lifetime sex offender registry requirement. (Judgment and Sentence p. 2; Vol I Appx. 38).

Erdman filed a timely Notice of Appeal on October 25, 2021, and now asks the reviewing court to find that the lower court erred in waiving the matter from juvenile court to district court and failing to grant Erdman's motion for acquittal. (Notice of Appeal; Vol I Appx. 44).

Facts

On May 31, 2019, Dagger Le Erman was 17 years old and his neighbor, Z.E., was 9 years old. (Trial Tr. Vol. p. 54, ln. 21-22; p. 18, ln. 14-15). Z.E. testified that, on that date, she went to Erdman's house and while she was with Erdman in his bedroom, Erdman reached into her pants and touched her vagina. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p.23, ln. 21-22). Z.E. further testified that after Erdman withdrew his hand from her pants, he then put his hand down his own pants and touched himself. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 22, ln. 10-13). Conversely, Erdman testified that, while Z.E. did come to his house to visit, at no time did he touch Z.E.'s privates. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 77, ln. 7-9). Erdman stated that if any touching could have happened, such touching would have been completely unintentional while the two were playing tag. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 82, ln. 16-22).

Any additional relevant facts will be addressed as needed in the arguments below.

Routing Statement

This Appeal should be heard by the Court of Appeals because it presents the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(3).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Erdman argues that the lower court erred by granting the State's motion for waiver of jurisdiction from the juvenile court to the district court. Erdman was only 17 years old at the time of the incident, had no prior court involvement, and there was ample time for any rehabilitation had the juvenile court adjudicated him under the delinquency petition. Further, the district court erred by not granting Erdman's motion for a directed verdict of acquittal based on the lack of evidence to support the crime charged.

ARGUMENT

I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED BY GRANTING THE STATE'S MOTION FOR WAIVER OF JURISDICTION FROM JUVENILE COURT TO DISTRICT COURT.

A. Error Preservation

Erdman objected to the waiver of jurisdiction from the juvenile court to the district court on the record. (Waiver Hearing Tr. p. 24, ln. 12-19). The court heard argument on the matter and entered a written ruling granting the State's motion for waiver. (Waiver Hearing Tr.; Waiver Order p. 2; Vol I Appx. 4).

B. Standard of Review

"We review a court's decision whether to transfer a case to or from juvenile court for an abuse of discretion." *State v. Duncan*, 841 N.W.2d 604, 607 (Iowa App. 2013) (citing *State v. Neitzel*, 801 N.W.2d 612, 618 (Iowa App. 2011)). A juvenile court's decision to waive jurisdiction of a minor to the district court is reviewed "de novo to the extent of examining all the evidence to determine whether the court abused its discretion in ordering the waiver." *State v. Greiman*, 344 N.W.2d 249, 251 (Iowa 1984). Review of the juvenile court's interpretation of statutes is for correction of errors at law. *State v. Crooks*, 911 N.W.2d 153, 161 (Iowa 2018).

C. Argument: The juvenile court erred by granting the State's motion to waive jurisdiction to the district court.

The incident giving rise to the charge against Erdman occurred on or about May 31, 2019. (Trial Information p. 1; Vol I Appx. 7). Erdman's date of birth is

April 28, 2002. (Waiver Hearing Tr. p. 17, ln. 8). Therefore, Erdman had just turned age 17 one month prior to the incident. The waiver hearing took place on October 22, 2019. (Waiver Order p. 1; Vol I Appx. 4). Thus, there were six more months before Erdman would turn 18 years old when the juvenile court made the decision on the waiver of jurisdiction. Erdman argues that the juvenile court erred by finding that waiver to district court was in the best interests of Erdman and the community.

Iowa Code §232.45(8) delineates the factors that the juvenile court must consider in making the determination of waiver for juveniles aged 14 and over. These factors are:

- a. The nature of the alleged delinquent act and the circumstances under which it was committed.
- b. The nature and extent of the child's prior contacts with juvenile authorities, including past efforts of such authorities to treat and rehabilitate the child and the response to such efforts.
- c. The programs, facilities and personnel available to the juvenile court for rehabilitation and treatment of the child, and the programs, facilities and personnel which would be available to the court that would have jurisdiction in the event the juvenile court waives its jurisdiction so that the child can be prosecuted as an adult.

In the juvenile court's order of October 22, 2019, the juvenile court focuses exclusively on the factor that there was insufficient time for Erdman to attend the State Training School if he were to be adjudicated. (Waiver Order p. 2; Vol I Appx. 5). The juvenile court summarily determined that "there is no reasonable prospect of rehabilitation prior to the court losing jurisdiction and the ability to enforce treatment." *Id.* However, the juvenile court reached this conclusion without considering all the mandatory factors set out in §232.45(8)(a-c).

First, considering the nature and circumstances of the alleged delinquent act under section a, these factors in Erdman's case supported a denial of the waiver to district court. Even if Erdman was adjudicated, the incident was not violent or unduly coercive. The defendant was not in a position of authority over the child such as a teacher, parent, or other similar authority figure. The defendant was a peer of the child. While Erdman was the older child, they were both children. Z.E. had come over the Erdman's house to visit Erdman and the two played tag and watched television. Those are child-like, peer-to-peer activities. Further, the alleged "sex act" was a touching with the hand and did not include genital to genital acts, or any such egregious contact. The child was not threatened or restrained in any way. The non-violent nature of the alleged act and the fact that both parties were children are very important. The nature and circumstances of the alleged delinquent act directly supported a denial of the request to waive jurisdiction to district court.

Second, the factor under section b- the child's prior contact with juvenile authorities- is nonexistent. Erdman had zero prior record. This factor weighed heavily in Erdman's favor for a high probability for rehabilitation had he been adjudicated. In fact, his age was a beneficial factor in this analysis. There was no childhood pattern of bad acts to overcome. Rather, the incident was clearly an anomaly as supported by his record. The juvenile court disregarded this important factor despite the mandate in §232.45(8) that the court "shall" consider these factors in making the determination on waiver.

Third, the consideration under section c is the programs and facilities available to the child through the juvenile court as opposed to the district court. Here, the juvenile court focused only on the State Training School option and determined that, regardless of Erdman's eligibility to attend, there was "no reasonable prospect of rehabilitation prior to the court losing jurisdiction and the ability to enforce treatment." (Waiver Order p. 2; Vol I Appx. 5). To determine whether a waiver to district court is in the child's best interests, a review of the programs available under the waiver or no waiver outcomes should have been done. There was virtually no discussion of what programs Erdman would or could participate in should the waiver be granted. There was also no discussion on the best interests of the community in making this decision.

In summary, the juvenile court erred by not considering all the mandatory factors set forth in Iowa Code §232.45(8) in making the determination to waive jurisdiction to the district court. A careful review of all the factors shows that the best interests of Erdman and the best interests of the community would be that the juvenile court retain jurisdiction. The State's request for waiver should have been denied.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING ERDMAN'S MOTION FOR A VERDICT OF ACQUITTAL BASED ON INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THE CRIME CHARGED.

A. Error Preservation

Erdman made a motion for a directed verdict of acquittal on the record at the close of the State's case. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 69, ln. 19-24). Erdman further renewed his motion for acquittal after the defense rested. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 94, ln. 15-16).

B. Standard of Review

The Court reviews sufficiency-of-the-evidence claims for correction of errors at law. *See State v. Brubaker*, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011).

C. Argument: The District Court erred by failing to grant Erdman's motion for a directed verdict on the basis that there was insufficient evidence to support the crime charged.

When reviewing a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the court views the evidence in the light most favorable to the state, including legitimate inferences and presumptions which may fairly and reasonably be deduced from the evidence in

the record. *State v. Sanford*, 814 N.W.2d 611, 615 (Iowa 2012). Direct and circumstantial evidence are equally probative so long as the evidence raises “a fair inference of guilt and [does] more than create speculation, suspicion, or conjecture.” *State v. Mills*, 458 N.W.2d 395, 397 (Iowa App.1990) (quoting *State v. Wheeler*, 403 N.W.2d 58, 60 (Iowa App.1987)). It is necessary to consider all the evidence in the record and not just the evidence supporting the verdict to determine whether there is substantial evidence to support the charge. *Id.* Substantial evidence means evidence which would convince a rational fact finder that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*

The Court will uphold a verdict if substantial evidence supports it. *See State v. Brubaker*, 805 N.W.2d 164, 171 (Iowa 2011). Evidence is substantial if it would convince a reasonable fact finder the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* The Court considers all evidence in the record—not just the evidence supporting guilt—when making sufficiency-of-the-evidence determinations. *Id.* The evidence is viewed in the light most favorable to the State, drawing all reasonable inferences to uphold the verdict. *State v. Williams*, 695 N.W.2d 23, 28 (Iowa 2005).

After the State rested, Erdman made a motion for directed verdict of acquittal on the specific basis that the State failed to present sufficient evidence that a sex act had been committed. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 69, ln. 21-24). Erdman renewed his motion at the end of the trial on the same grounds. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 94, ln. 5-6).

Erdman was charged with Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree which provides that a person commits sexual abuse in the second degree when the person commits sexual abuse, and the other person is a child. Iowa Code §709.3(b). The elements of sexual abuse in this instance are delineated in jury Instruction No. 15, stating that, if the defendant performed a sex act on Z.E. and she was under the age of twelve years, then he was guilty of Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree. As to the definition of “sex act,” the jury was provided the following instruction:

Concerning element number 1 of Instruction No. 15, “sex act,” as relevant to this case, means any sexual contact between the finger or hand of one person and the genitals or anus of another person. You may consider the type of contact and the circumstances surround it in deciding whether the contact was sexual in nature.

Instruction No. 16.

In Erdman’s case, there was not sufficient evidence presented to find the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. While corroboration of the victim’s testimony is not required, the circumstances surrounding the incident and the reliability of the witness are important factors. Here, the only evidence against Erdman was the testimony of the complaining witness, Z.E. The fact that Z.E. was at the Erdman’s home on the day in question does not make Z.E.’s direct allegation of sexual abuse more accurate. Erdman himself provided credible testimony that he did not, in fact, touch Z.E. inappropriately. The State attempted to discredit Erdman by pointing out inconsistencies in his police interview versus his trial testimony.

However, upon review, these statements were not inconsistent. Rather, Erdman was very consistent in his denial of any wrongdoing. (Trial Tr. Vol. 2, p. 78, ln. 6-7; p. 86, ln. 2-4; p. 88, ln. 12-14).

Z.E.'s accusations against Erdman did not create more than speculation, suspicion, or conjecture. This is not enough to meet the heavy burden required for a finding a guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Erdman argues that the State did not present sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Erdman asks that the Iowa Court of Appeals find that the lower court erred in waiving this matter from the juvenile court to the district court, and further find that there was insufficient evidence to support a conviction. Erdman asks that the Court vacate the verdict in this matter and for any other relief that the court deems just under the circumstances of this case.

ORAL ARGUMENT

The decisional process in this case would not be significantly aided by oral argument; therefore, oral argument is not requested. Iowa R. App. Pro. 903.2(i).