IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA
Supreme Court No. 21-1594

STATE OF IOWA,
Plaintiff-Appellee,

vs.

DAGGER LE ERDMAN,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT
FOR WASHINGTON COUNTY
THE HONORABLE DANIEL KITCHEN AND THE HONORABLE
MYRON GOOKIN, JUDGES

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER
Attorney General of Iowa

GENEVIEVE REINKOESTER
Assistant Attorney General
Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor
Des Moines, Iowa 50319
(515) 281-5976
(515) 281-8894 (fax)
genevieve.reinkoester@ag.iowa.gov

JOHN GISH
Washington County Attorney

SHANE MCCHURCH
Assistant Washington County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. The juvenile court did not abuse its discretion when it waived its jurisdiction over Defendant so he could be tried in district court.**

Authorities

State v. Pec-Son, No 07-1374, 2008 WL 3367609
(Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2008)
State v. Tesch, 704 N.W.2d 440 (Iowa 2005)
Iowa Code § 232.45(8)

- II. The State presented sufficient evidence that Defendant sexually abused Z.E.**

Authorities

State v. Biddle, 652 N.W.2d 191 (Iowa 2002)
State v. Crawford, 972 N.W.2d 189 (Iowa 2022)
State v. Hansen, 750 N.W.2d 111 (Iowa 2008)
State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 758 (Iowa 2006)
State v. Thomas, 847 N.W.2d 438 (Iowa 2014)
State v. Trane, 934 N.W.2d 447 (Iowa 2019)
Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(p)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this case does not meet the criteria of Iowa Rule of Appellate Procedure 6.1101(2) for retention by the Supreme Court, transfer to the Court of Appeals is appropriate. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Defendant Dagger Le Erdman (“Defendant”) appeals his conviction following a jury trial in which he was found guilty of one count of Sexual Abuse in the Second Degree, in violation of Iowa Code sections 709.1(3), 709.3(1)(b), 709.3(2), and 903B.1, a class B felony. On appeal, Defendant asserts the juvenile court abused its discretion by granting the State’s motion to waive jurisdiction to the district court, and the evidence was not sufficient to support his conviction.

Course of Proceedings

The State accepts Defendant’s course of proceedings as adequate and essentially correct. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(3).

Facts

One afternoon, while nine-year-old Z.E. was visiting Defendant’s house, Defendant put his hand down her shorts and fondled her vagina. Z.E. and her family were longtime friends with

the Erdman family, and she was often over at their house to visit their chickens and play with Defendant's younger brother. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 17:4–18:2, 28:14–29:7, 43:7–44:5. On May 31, 2019, Z.E. was “bored at home” so went to the Erdman house “to hang out.” Trial Tr. Vol. II at 18:11–24. She visited the chickens then went inside the house and hung out in the living room for a while. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 18:18–19:4, 29:17–19. On a previous occasion, Z.E. had left gummy worms at the house, and on May 31, Defendant called Z.E. upstairs to his bedroom, ostensibly to return the gummy worms. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 19:2–20:4, 29:17–21.

While alone upstairs, Defendant and Z.E. played a game of tag. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 20:3–10, 29:22–30:10. After, they sat on the floor and watched television. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 20:17–21:12. Defendant gave Z.E. a blanket, and a few minutes later, Defendant got under the blanket with Z.E. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 21:10–22:21, 31:5–9. Defendant then put his hand down Z.E.'s shorts and fondled her vagina, directly touching the skin. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 23:14–25:7. When Defendant was done, he put his hand down the front of his own pants. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 25:8–18.

Z.E. made up an excuse to leave. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 25:19–25. Defendant asked Z.E. if she “was going to tell anyone” he had touched her, and she “said no” because she was “afraid.” Trial Tr. Vol. II at 26:1–8. But immediately after she left the Erdmans’ house, she went to find a friend and told her what happened. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 26:9–21. Z.E. and her friend then went to Z.E.’s house, and Z.E. told her mom that Defendant had touched her vagina. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 26:22–27:10, 44:2–14. Z.E.’s mother reported the incident to police. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 44:12–45:19.

Defendant’s trial testimony was almost identical to Z.E.’s, except he denied touching her vagina while they watched television in his room. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 74:6–77:14, 87:15–88:14. But Defendant claimed it was possible that he accidentally put his hands down Z.E.’s shorts while they were playing tag because “when you’re in the air, you don’t have control, so really you don’t know if you did something or not.” Trial Tr. Vol. II at 81:8–83:18. Z.E. denied that Defendant touched her inappropriately while they played tag. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 20:11–16.

During the investigation, Defendant gave two recorded interviews to Investigator Chad Ellis. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 55:11–56:12, 59:21–61:4. In the first interview, Defendant initially denied touching Z.E., even by accident while they were playing tag. State’s Ex. 2 (06-03-19 Interview) at 10:35. As the interview progressed, Defendant said it was possible, then a few minutes later admitted, he accidentally touched her while they played tag, but he denied it was inside her shorts. *Id.* at 12:40, 14:48, 18:55.

During the second interview, Defendant admitted he put his hand down Z.E.’s shorts, drew an outline of his hand on a piece of paper, and used it to indicate how far his hand went down her shorts. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 61:9–62:22, 67:25–68:2; State’s Ex. 4 (Drawing of Hand); App. 9. Defendant again asserted that he might have touched her by accident. State’s Ex. 3 (06-20-2019 Interview) at 8:50. Defendant then admitted that he touched her—by accident—inside her shorts while playing tag and explained how it might have happened. *Id.* at 9:50.

Referring to the outline of Defendant’s hand and the mark he made to indicate how far his hand went inside Z.E.’s shorts, Investigator Ellis asked Defendant, “is this accurate?” and Defendant

responded, “That’s as far as I’d let it go.” *Id.* at 13:22. Defendant stated that when his hand was in Z.E.’s shorts, he touched her skin, and when he realized what he had done, he immediately pulled his hand back out. *Id.* at 13:40. Later in the interview, Defendant admitted he touched Z.E. while they were watching television. *Id.* at 22:18. He stated he started on the outside of her shorts, then put his hand inside her underwear. *Id.* at 23:00. When he was done, Defendant said he thought about apologizing to Z.E., but she did not say anything to him. *Id.* at 22:18. At the end of the interview, Defendant told Investigator Ellis that in situations like this, the parents should discuss the incident and not involve the police. *Id.* at 25:20.

ARGUMENT

I. The juvenile court did not abuse its discretion when it waived its jurisdiction over Defendant so he could be tried in district court.

Preservation of Error

Error was preserved when the State filed a motion to waive jurisdiction to the district court, and the juvenile court entered an order and waived its jurisdiction. JVJV151558 09-13-2019 Motion to Waive, 10-22-2019 Order for Waiver; Conf. App. 7–8, App. 4–6.

Standard of Review

“...[R]eview is for an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Tesch*, 704 N.W.2d 440, 447 (Iowa 2005) (internal citation omitted) (“The waiver statute, section 232.45, vests discretion in the juvenile court to decide whether a waiver of juvenile court jurisdiction is warranted.”).

Merits

On September 13, 2019, a delinquency petition was filed against Defendant in juvenile court, and on the same day the State filed a motion to waive Defendant from juvenile court to district court for prosecution as an adult. JVJV151558 09-13-2019 Petition, 09-13-2019 Motion to Waive Jurisdiction; Conf. App. 5–8. On October 22, 2019, the juvenile court held a hearing on the State’s waiver motion. Waiver Hearing Tr.

At this hearing, Investigator Ellis testified to the nature and extent of the sexual abuse alleged by Z.E. Waiver Hearing Tr. at 5:3–14:5. Juvenile Court Officer (“JCO”) Karen Dennler also testified. JCO Dennler stated that after she interviewed Defendant, she determined he should be waived to district court “[d]ue to the seriousness of the offense, [and] the rehabilitative efforts that the Juvenile Court Office has available to them would not be sufficient in the time frame that

we have available to us.” Waiver Hearing Tr. at 18:5–21. The primary concern was that Defendant was already well-past his 17th birthday, and the office “only have placement facilities available to us until a child turns 18. So in [Defendant’s] case there’s an evaluation that needs to be done, treatment that needs to be done, and all of that cannot be accomplished in the time frame that’s left if he was admitting to the charge at this time, which when he met me for intake, he did not.” Waiver Hearing Tr. at 18:22–19:10.¹

JCO Dennler stated that “[i]n a sex abuse case, normally a child is evaluated and then recommend for treatment. The treatment is an intense treatment that lasts at least six months; and at this point without an adjudication or a conviction, we don’t have six months in order to provide that treatment if the evaluation was even done.” Waiver Hearing Tr. at 20:3–16. Defendant asserted that Iowa Code section 232.53(4) would permit Defendant to complete treatment at the State Training School after his 18th birthday. Waiver Hearing Tr. at 20:17–21:25. But JCO Dennler testified that the State Training School is “not usually recommended as the first placement for

¹ At the time of the waiver hearing, Defendant was about six months away from turning 18. *See* JVJV151558 09-18-2019 Waiver Report; Conf. App. 9.

anyone[,]” and stated that no other available program would allow Defendant to remain after the age of 18. Waiver Hearing Tr. at 22:22–23:9.

During the argument portion of the hearing, the juvenile court—relying on Iowa Code section 232.52(2)(e)—pointed out that Defendant would not qualify for placement at the State Training School because he had not “previously [been] found to have committed a delinquent act” nor had he “previously been placed in a treatment facility outside the child’s home[.]” Waiver Hearing Tr. at 25:16–27:2. Based on those criteria, Defendant admitted he did not qualify for placement at the State Training School but argued “there may be adult therapy programs that he could take advantage of.” Waiver Hearing Tr. at 27:3–28:2.

On October 22, 2019, the juvenile court entered an order waiving its jurisdiction so Defendant could be prosecuted as an adult in district court. 10-22-2019 Order for Waiver; App. 4–6. In it, the juvenile court determined that Defendant was over the age of 14, there was probable cause to believe he committed sexual abuse, and that the State established there were no reasonable prospects for

rehabilitating Defendant if he remained in juvenile court. *Id.* at 1;

App. 4. On this final factor, the juvenile court elaborated:

The child argued that he could receive treatment for 1.5 years after his eighteenth at the State Training School if he was sent there prior to his eighteenth birthday, or, in the alternative, he could be placed in programs for adult sex offenders under the order of the Juvenile Court after his eighteenth birthday. The evidence reflects, however, that should the child be adjudicated and disposition was entered, the State Training School is not an option. Further, there is insufficient time to have reasonable prospects of rehabilitating the child between this date and April 2020. Even if the child should be adjudicated to have committed Sex Abuse in the 2nd degree, evaluated for programming, and eventually admitted into a program, there is no reasonable prospect of rehabilitation prior to the court losing jurisdiction and the ability to enforce treatment.

Id. at 2; App. 5.

Defendant now claims the juvenile court's decision was an abuse of discretion because it did not consider all relevant factors. App. Br. at 9–13. Iowa Code section 232.45(8) “contains a nonexhaustive list of factors that the court must consider in making the determination required by section 232.45(6)(c). Those factors include:”

a. The nature of the alleged delinquent act and the circumstances under which it was committed.

b. The nature and extent of the child's prior contacts with juvenile authorities, including past efforts of such authorities to treat and rehabilitate the child and the response to such efforts.

c. The programs, facilities and personnel available to the juvenile court for rehabilitation and treatment of the child, and the programs, facilities and personnel which would be available to the court that would have jurisdiction in the event the juvenile court waives its jurisdiction so that the child can be prosecuted as an adult.

Tesch, 704 N.W.2d at 448 (citing Iowa Code § 232.45(8)).

A review of the hearing transcript and the juvenile court's waiver order shows it considered these mandatory factors when it made its determination. Testimony at the hearing detailed the offense and the fact that this was Defendant's first contact with juvenile authorities, and the juvenile court indicated it relied on that information when it made its determination. Waiver Hearing Tr. at 5:3–14:5, 22:1–6, JVJV 151558 Waiver Order at 1–2; App. 4–5.

Defendant asserts the juvenile court erred by focusing "solely on the State Training School option[.]" App. Br. at 12. But Defendant's argument at the waiver hearing focused mainly on that option, so the

juvenile court’s discussion of it was not misplaced. Waiver Hearing Tr. at 21:4–25, 24:12–25:15. While Defendant believed there may be adult programs that could be utilized, he did not present any evidence of their existence or whether Defendant qualified for them at the hearing. Waiver Hearing Tr. at 27:3–28:4. JCO Dennler testified that the non-State Training School options that were available to the juvenile authorities could not be completed before Defendant turned 18. Waiver Hearing Tr. at 18:11–19:10. Here, the juvenile court considered all mandatory factors, and its “decision was supported by the evidence[.]” *Tesch*, 704 N.W.2d at 450; *see also State v. Pec-Son*, No 07-1374, 2008 WL 3367609, at *2 (Iowa Ct. App. Aug. 13, 2008) (finding no abuse of discretion when “the juvenile court undertook the necessary evaluations required by the Iowa Code[.]”).

II. The State presented sufficient evidence that Defendant sexually abused Z.E.

Preservation of Error

The State cannot contest error preservation. *State v. Crawford*, 972 N.W.2d 189, 195–202 (Iowa 2022).

Standard of Review

“Challenges to the sufficiency of the evidence are reviewed for correction of errors at law.” *State v. Hansen*, 750 N.W.2d 111, 112

(Iowa 2008). “The district court’s findings of guilt are binding on appeal if supported by substantial evidence. Evidence is substantial if it would convince a rational trier of fact that the defendant is guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Id.* The evidence is viewed in the light more favorable to the State, including legitimate inferences and presumptions that can fairly and reasonably be deduced from the record. *State v. Biddle*, 652 N.W.2d 191, 197 (Iowa 2002). Evidence is not insubstantial merely because the evidence could support contrary inferences or because the verdict rests on weighing the credibility of conflicting witness testimony. *Id.* “Direct and circumstantial evidence are equally probative.” Iowa R. App. P. 6.904(3)(p); *see also State v. Thomas*, 847 N.W.2d 438, 447 (Iowa 2014).

Merits

Defendant claims the evidence was not sufficient to show he committed a sex act because his testimony was more credible than Z.E.’s. App. Br. at 15. But when considering a sufficiency claim, “[i]t is not the province of the court...to resolve conflicts in the evidence, to pass upon the credibility of witnesses, to determine the plausibility of explanations, or to weigh the evidence; such matters are for the jury.”

State v. Musser, 721 N.W.2d 758, 761 (Iowa 2006) (internal quotation marks and citations omitted).

Defendant agrees corroboration of Z.E.'s testimony is not required, and here, she testified clearly and consistently that Defendant called her upstairs to his room, covered them both with a blanket, then put his hand down her shorts and fondled her vagina. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 21:10–22:21, 23:14–25:7, 31:5–9. Z.E. reported this incident to a friend, her mother, and police. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 26:9–21, 26:22–27:10, 44:2–45:19. Z.E.'s testimony was undoubtedly sufficient to create a jury question. *See State v. Trane*, 934 N.W.2d 447, 455 (Iowa 2019) (stating that the victim's "testimony, standing alone, is sufficient to support" the defendant's conviction).

And Defendant admitted to Investigator Ellis that he put his hand down Z.E.'s shorts and touched her. State's Ex. 2 (06-03-19 Interview). At trial, Defendant tried to back-track from his admissions and claimed he was just speaking hypothetically. Trial Tr. Vol. II at 81:8–25, 83:7–84:5, 88:20–89:14. Such an explanation is contrary to the evidence presented at trial. Defendant's sufficiency claim fails.

CONCLUSION

For all the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests that this Court affirm Defendant's conviction and sentence.

REQUEST FOR NONORAL SUBMISSION

The State requests that this case be submitted without oral argument.